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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

John Henry Markwell, appellant below, seeks review of the 

decision designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision ofthe Court of Appeals 

terminating review in his case filed on January 30, 2014. A copy of the 

decision is in the Appendix to this Petition at pages A-1 through A-29. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where the evidence shows only the complaining witness's 
subjective reaction to the defendant instead of an express or implied threat to 
cause bodily injury, and there is no evidence of physical force more than 
necessary to achieve sexual intercourse, is the evidence insufficient to 
establish the essential forcible compulsion element of second degree rape? 

2. Is it constitutional error to admit the testimony of a DOC 
employee about how bad things can be in prison where the reality of prison 
life was irrelevant at trial, where nothing in the testimony of the other trial 
witnesses was beyond the knowledge of the jurors, where it was uncontested 
that the complaining witness reasonably feared going to prison, and where 
the DOC testimony improperly equated the defendant with people in prison 
likely to commit crimes against people like the complaining witness? 

3. Is it constitutional error to admit the testimony of a 
psychosexual evaluator of the complaining witness, that he was vulnerable, 
credible and a victim; and is such testimony improper vouching and 
impermissible opinion testimony as to guilt? 

4. Is it misconduct for a prosecutor to include graphics in his 
Power Point presentation, here an American flag, when the picture was never 
introduced as evidence at trial and is likely to elicit an emotional response 
from jurors? 
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5. Is the prosecutor's misconduct in asking leading questions 
and making speaking objections; in improperly interjecting the rape shield 
statute into the case; in asking questions which assumed that a rape had been 
committed, in prompting the complaining witness to testify that force had 
been used against him; in failing to caution a witness about testimony that 
had been excluded; in using the expert testimony to support the improper 
argument that it was the complaining witness's character to be a ''victim" 
and that his failure to disclose was "typical," and otherwise vouching for his 
credibility; and denigrating the defendant's character and implying defense 
counsel was victimizing the witness the denial of a constitutionally fair trial? 

6. Is the surprise testimony that the defendant said he had shot 
someone in the past and expressly excluded testimony about alleged drug 
use deny him a fair trial? 

7. Did the cumulative error in this case deny a fair trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The three counts of second degree rape Mr. Markwell was 

convicted of allegedly took place in a 12-inmate-capacity county jail. CP 

213-215, 218-221; RP 373-375. There were cameras in the day room of 

the jail and the jail staff were close at hand and able to hear everywhere in 

the small jail. RP 418-419. The only inmates during the charging period 

were Mr. Markwell; Charlie Hopkins, the complaining witness; Michael 

(Mikey) Burke; Paul Potts, who did not testify, RP 372-373, 418, 423, and 

Dustin Warren, who spent only three hours there. (RP 519, 534). 

The prosecutor's theory of forcible compulsion, argued to the jury, 

was that Mr. Markwell told Mr. Hopkins, who was going to prison for 

rape of a child (RP 415), about things that happen to sex offenders in 
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prison and wrote a letter for Mr. Hopkins to take with him to prison for his 

protection; and this, together with Mr. Markwell's appearance and 

demeanor, was an implied threat of bodily injury or death- even though 

Mr. Hopkins was clear that Mr. Markwell never threatened to take the 

letter back. RP 389, 394. The only threats of violence Mr. Hopkins 

recalled were (1) an incident in which he accidentally put a mop on Mr. 

Markwell's foot and Mr. Markwell threatened to kick him if he didn't 

remove it, and (2) a threat to harm Mr. Hopkins or his family if he ever 

"snitched." RP 389,410. He never described any threats to compel sex. 

Mr. Markwell's theory was that there was one act of consensual 

oral sex. His theory was supported by Michael Burke who testified that 

he heard Mr. Hopkins agree to oral sex. RP 474-477, 481, 492-495, 512. 

Mr. Markwell started joking about Mr. Hopkins giving them oral sex; Mr. 

Hopkins was smiling and seemed to enjoy the attention. RP 494-495. 

Eventually he said, "let's do it" and walked into the cell with Mr. 

Markwell. RP 495. After the two returned to the day room, Mr. Hopkins 

was smiling and said that his friend Nick's penis was bigger than Mr. 

Markwell's. 1 RP 498-499. When Mr. Hopkins told Mikey about giving 

Mr. Markwell oral sex, he never said that he was forced to do so, RP 497-

1 On cross examination, Mr. Hopkins agreed that he had a boyfriend Nick, RP 442, that 
Mr. Burke was present before and shortly after the first incident and there was a 
discussion about who had a bigger penis, Mr. Markwell or Nick. RP 449. 
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498, and he never seemed to be afraid of Mr. Markwell. RP 499. 

According to Mr. Hopkins, when they were in the day room 

together, Mr. Markwell said he had to "give him oral sex." RP 386. Mr. 

Hopkins said he said "no," but then he went to his cell and Mr. Markwell 

followed him and had him give him oral sex there. RP 385. They went 

into the cell because of the cameras in the day room. RP 418-419. Mr. 

Hopkins testified that after he began the oral sex, Mr. Markwell kept his 

hand on the back ofhis head. RP 388. When asked if Mr. Markwell 

threatened him before the oral sex, Mr. Hopkins described only the 

incident with the mop. RP 389. He denied there were any other threats 

and agreed that the mop incident had nothing to do with sex. RP 389, 418. 

Mr. Hopkins testified that he was afraid of prison and that Mr. 

Markwell had written him what was called "a letter from home" that 

would protect him. RP 390-391, 429. He said that Mr. Markwell told 

him he should make the part of the letter that said he was "an awesome 

homosexual" true. RP 391, 393. He was clear, however, that Mr. 

Markwell never threatened to take the letter away and never said that he 

would write a letter in exchange for sex. RP 394, 449. Hopkins said that 

because he was a jail trustee, Mr. Markwell said it was his job to keep the 

cell clean. RP 399. Mr. Markwell, he said, implied Hopkins would get 

hurt ifhe didn't do those chores. RP 400. Mr. Markwell asked Hopkins 
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to move to a more secluded cell, and Hopkins agreed to because he did not 

want to "start any big commotion." RP 400-401. The second incident 

occurred in the private cell when Mr. Markwell began having anal sex 

with Hopkins; Hopkins, however, complained that it hurt so Mr. Markwell 

stopped and they switched to oral sex instead. RP 403. Hopkins testified 

that he tried to pull his pants back up prior to the sex, but wasn't able to. 

RP 409. 

Mr. Hopkins said there was a third incident inside the bullpen 

where Mr. Markwell ordered him to perform oral sex. RP 403. Mr. 

Hopkins said that he thought about the letter and that "okay, if I do [sex] 

this, he will protect me inside the prison system." RP 404-405. 

Over defense objection, the state presented the testimony of two 

expert witnesses and the testimony of Dustin Warren who was in the jail 

for a weekend and "near" Mr. Markwell for three hours. RP 312 

Mr. Jackson, from the Department of Corrections, testified that he 

investigated crimes like assault, drug use and attempted murder, and 

worked on security threats from groups and gangs. RP 233. He testified 

that inmates suffered assaults, rapes, beatings and being "shanked" in the 

DOC, RP 251-252, and that sex offenders are "at risk." RP 254-255. 

Mr. Lindsley, the presentence evaluator for Mr. Hopkins, described 

him as seeing himself as a victim and being "vulnerable" to manipulation 
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through fear and a perception of a threat of danger. RP 276-277. These 

deficiencies would "be very obvious" to a person sharing a living space 

with him. RP 278. Mr. Hopkins did not report any sexual assaults to him 

or sexual encounters. RP 286, 296-297. Mr. Lindsley tried to discount 

this with testimony that victims don't always disclose right away. RP 301. 

Dustin Warren said his impression of Mr. Markwell was that he 

was "kind ofbig and intimidating," but that he did not see Mr. Markwell 

giving orders to anyone. RP 520. When asked what Mr. Markwell talked 

about, Mr. Warren responded "stories of previous drug use." RP 521-522. 

A defense objection was sustained and the jury instructed to disregard the 

testimony. RP 522. The court asked the prosecutor to take the witness out 

to the hallway and enlighten him about the court's prior rulings. RP 522. 

When the direct examination resumed, the prosecutor delved again into 

specifics acts of violence and elicited that one story was "where he shot a 

guy in the foot." RP 522-523. The court denied the defense motion for 

mistrial, but noted that the state should have warned the witness not to 

mention the drug use, RP 524-526, 528-529, and admonished Mr. Warren 

that "other bad acts that the defendant might have bragged about, those are 

off-limits." RP 529. 

6 



D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED. 

1. INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE OF 
FORCIBLE COMPULSION 

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b) (2), (3), and (4) 

because the decision ofthe Court of Appeals in Mr. Markwell's case 

implicates his fundamental constitutional right to due process of law, is an 

issue of significant public importance, and is in conflict with the decisions 

of Court of Appeals in State v. Wright, 152 Wn. App. 64, 214 P.3d 968 

(2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1017 (2009) and State v. Weisberg, 65 

Wn. App. 721, 725, 829 P.2d 252 (1992). 

As a matter of federal and state constitutional law, Mr. Markwell 

can be convicted only if the state can establish every element of the crimes 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S., 358, 90 S. 

Ct. 1068,25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970) Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 61 L. 

Ed. 2d 560,99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216,220-

221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). 

Here the critical element at issue at trial was forcible compulsion, 

an essential element of second degree rape as charged. RCW 

9A.44.050(1)(a). The decision of the Court of Appeals finding that there 

was sufficient evidence of forcible compulsion is in conflict with other 

Court of Appeals decisions. 
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First, in conflict with State v. Weisburg, 65 Wn. App. 721, 725, 

829 P.2d 252 (1992), the Court of Appeals in Mr. Marwell's case held that 

a finding of forcible compulsion by implied threat of physical injury can 

be based on the victim's subjective reaction to a particular conduct: "The 

record here establishes that Mr. Markwell, through his conduct at the jail, 

impliedly threatened Mr. Hopkins so that he feared physical injury if he 

did not comply with Mr. Markwell's demands." A-ll (emphasis added). 

The threats listed by the Court of Appeals in support of this conclusion 

had nothing at all to do with threatening bodily injury in order to obtain 

sexual intercourse; they had to do with snitching, the mop incident, 

cleaning, and a claim that Mr. Markwell said Mr. Hopkins was his 

property and that he should make the protection letter true. Id. 

In Weisburg, a clothing manufacturer's representative invited his 

neighbor to his house to try on clothing. When she did not remove her 

underwear along with her other clothing, he removed them. She testified 

that she did not try to stop him because she was afraid that he might try to 

hurt her. When she said she did not want to lie down on the bed, he 

insisted that she "go ahead and lay on the bed anyway." Id. at 723. When 

told to stop the ensuing intercourse, however, he did stop. On appeal, the 

Weisberg court held that "a finding of forcible compulsion cannot be 

based solely on the victim's subjective reaction to particular conduct." Id, 
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at 725. In reversing, the court focused on the fact that Weisberg ceased 

physical contact when the complaining witness said the intercourse hurt 

her, that they were not in an isolated location without an avenue to escape 

or others in the vicinity, and that there was no conduct suggesting that 

Weisberg would injure her if she did not comply. Id. at 727. 

As in Weisburg, it was undisputed that Mr. Hopkins only had to 

stay in the day room where there were security cameras or raise his voice 

to bring the jail staff to his aid, that he testified Mr. Markwell stopped anal 

intercourse when he complained that it hurt, that Mr. Hopkins described 

the mop incident as the only threat of injury, and that Mr. Markwell never 

threatened to take the protection letter away. As in Weisburg, it was, at 

most, Mr. Hopkins's stated subjective belief that Mr. Markwell would take 

the protection letter away, not a threat of injury, that made him comply. 

Second, although the Court of Appeals acknowledged that forcible 

compulsion "requires more than the force normally used to achieve sexual 

intercourse or sexual contact," its holding is in conflict with the authority 

so holding. State v. Ritola, 63 Wn. App. 252, 254, 817 P .2d 1390 (1991 ); 

State v. Wright, 152 Wn. App. 64, 214 P.3d 968 (2009), review denied, 

168 Wn.2d 1017 (2009). 

For the first alleged occasion Mr. Hopkins did not describe any 

kind of physical force being applied to begin the oral sex. RP 385-589. At 

9 



most, Mr. Hopkins testified - in response to a leading question by the 

prosecutor- that Mr. Markwell put his hand on the back of his head. RP 

388. As in Wright, such minimal pressure under the circumstances could 

not be said to be more than that which is normally required to achieve and 

maintain penetration. For the second alleged incident, the fact that Mr. 

Hopkins tried unsuccessfully to pull his pants back up was not sufficient 

physical force under Wright and Weisberg. RP 409. There was no 

evidence that more force was used than that which is normally required for 

penetration, and Mr. Markwell stopped the anal intercourse when Mr. 

Hopkins complained. RP 403. There was no evidence that force would 

have been used if Mr. Hopkins had refused. With regard to the third 

alleged incident, there was clearly no evidence of any kind of physical 

force. RP 403-405. 

Review should be granted to resolve the conflict of authority, 

resolve any conflict in decisions, and address the constitutional issues. 

2. THE ADMISSION OF THE SO-CALLED EXPERT 
TESTIMONY ON GUlL T AND CREDIBILITY 

The decision affirming the admission of the testimony of Robert 

Jackson and Stephen Lindsley is contrary to reported decisions of this 

Court, implicates constitutional rights and is an issue of substantial public 

importance. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b) (1). (3) and (4). 
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The Court of Appeals held that Jackson's testimony "assisted the 

jury in understanding the prison terminology and the significance of Mr. 

Markwell's comments to Mr. Hopkins within the context of the prison 

system [and]. .. helped the jury understand the State's theory of the case," 

A-12. No authority is cited to support this holding. In fact, under ER 

403, whether Mr. Markwell's descriptions of prison were accurate was 

totally irrelevant and the testimony about prisons unfairly prejudicial; the 

point was that Mr. Hopkins had never been to prison and would have been 

just as frightened, on being told about it, if the dangerous tunnel at Shelton 

didn't really exist-- or if sex offenders aren't really victimized. Nor did 

the evidence satisfy the requirement ofER 702 that it was necessary to 

assist the jurors in understanding or determining a fact in issue; nothing in 

the testimony of Charlie Hopkins' and Michael Burke's testimony was 

beyond the understanding of the jurors. Indeed, it is hard to imagine adult 

in the county who did not know the meaning of "shanked" or of prison 

rape. There is simply no authority that supporting the state's theory of 

defense is an independent or adequate ground for admissibility. 

Although the Court of appeals held that Mr. Jackson's 

"qualifications" - his experience with security threats and prisoners guilty 

of assault, drugs and murder- did not constitute profile evidence, A-14, 

this holding conflicts with the holding in State v. Braham, 67 Wn. App. 
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930. 936-37, 841 P.2d 785 (1992), that improper "profile evidence" is 

testimony that identifies a group of people more likely to commit a crime. 

The clear import of Mr. Jackson's testimony was that he could explain the 

things Mr. Markwell was alleged to have said because he had experience 

with people in prison who were likely to commit crimes. He implicitly 

associated Mr. Markwell with the set of people he investigated in prison. 

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Lindsley's testimony was 

admissible because it "conveyed his opinion that Mr. Hopkins was 

vulnerable to exploitation." A-16. Again, no authority is cited to support 

this basis of admissibility, especially since Mr. Markwell was accused of 

using forcible compulsion not sexual exploitation. 

Mr. Lindsey essentially testified that Mr. Hopkins was a victim and 

inferentially that Mr. Markwell was guilty. The Court of Appeals decision 

is in conflict with the many decisions holding that a witness may not 

express an opinion on another witness's credibility nor give an opinion as 

to the guilt or innocence of the accused. ER 608(a); State v. Sanders, 66 

Wn. App. 380, 387, 832 P.2d 1326 (1992), State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 

348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987); State v. Sutherby, 144 Wn.2d 755, 759, 30 P.3d 

1278 (2001); State v, O'Neal, 126 Wn. App. 395, 409, 109 P.3d 429 

(2005), affd, 159 Wn.2d 505 (2007). Such testimony invades the 

province of the jury and denies the accused his or her right to a jury trial 
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and can constitute an manifest error which can be raised for the first time 

on appeal. Sutherby. 144 Wn.2d at 617. 

Although the Court of Appeals did not decide the issue, Mr. 

Lindsley's testimony that male victims of sexual abuse delay disclosure 

was not shown to be based on any reasonable scientific theory. This was 

inadmissible under State v. Black, supra; State v. Maule, 35 Wn. App. 

287,295-96, 667 P.2d 96 (1983), and State v. Stewart, 34 Wn. App. 221, 

222-224, 660 P.2d 278 (1983). 

3. POWER POINT GRAPHICS 

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b) (2) and (4) because 

the issue of whether the prosecutor can use graphics designed to elicit 

emotional responses in its Power Point presentations to the jury of items 

never introduced as evidence at trial and irrelevant to any issue at trial is 

an issue of substantial public importance which should be decided by this 

Court. Moreover, the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 

the decision in State v. Hecht, No. 71059-1-11 (filed 218/2014), which held 

that it was reversible error and flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct to 

for the prosecutor to include a picture of the defendant with the word 

"guilty" across his face in his Power Point presentation. 

The Court of Appeals here found no error in the prosecutor's use 

of an American flag as a background for his PowerPoint presentation to 
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the jury. RP 23, 24. The Power Point presentation included six slides of 

an American flag showed progressively more completely in each slide 

until the entire flag appeared- implicitly likening the emerging evidence 

at trial to the flag and all it stands for. CP 114. 

While perhaps not as overt as in Hecht, the flag graphics were 

more insidious and emotionally evocative. In any event, the use of the 

flag here and the graphics used in Hecht identify an issue that could 

continue to arise as the use of electronic presentations becomes universal. 

This case presents the opportunity for this Court to set the limits for the 

use of graphics in Power Point presentations and hold that no image which 

was not introduced as evidence can be used in presentations to the jury. 

4. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

Review should be granted on the prosecutorial misconduct issues 

because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other 

decisions, raises constitutional concerns and presents issues of substantial 

importance. 

Early on, defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's "talking 

objections." RP 237. Nevertheless, when counsel cross-examined Mr. 

Lindsley about why he did not recommend a SOSA for Mr. Hopkins, the 

prosecutor objected that the examination "is completely prejudicial to the 

victim in this case ... and unduly inflammatory." RP 282. As cross-
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examination continued, the prosecutor made another speaking objection, 

"I think if nothing else, under the rape shield law. I mean it does not 

matter whether or not the victim had had previous ... " RP 286. Counsel 

objected. RP 286. Further, after being admonished to refer to an "alleged 

rape" instead of rape, the prosecutor continued immediately to ask the 

same question about interviewing a witness about the rape. RP 378-379. 

The court repeatedly sustained objections to the prosecutor's 

leading questions. The prosecutor asked Mr. Jackson if he was stating that 

usually there is a dominant individual and a submissive individual in 

prison homosexual relationships- which clearly suggested an answer. RP 

245. When examining Mr. Hopkins, the prosecutor asked "You said 

earlier that he forced oral sex; how did he force oral sex?" RP 388. Even 

though the objection was sustained to that question, the prosecutor 

followed up, "How did Mr. Markwell force you to give him a blowjob?" 

RP 388-389. This elicited that response that after he began the oral sex, 

Mr. Markwell put his hand on the back ofhis head. RP 388. 

An objection was sustained to the prosecutor's asking how far 

before the oral sex did Mr. Markwell "make the threat about the mop?" 

RP 389. An objection was sustained when the prosecutor asked "Did you 

guys talk about this [the letter] just prior to the first oral sex incident?" RP 

392-394. The court instructed the prosecutor to "stick to who, what, 
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when, why or how. That will almost always avoid a leading question 

objection." RP 397. Nevertheless, the prosecution drew objections, which 

were sustained, with questions like, "What did Mr. Markwell say to you 

prior to the blowjob?" RP 404. "Did the defendant tell you that you had 

to do everything he told you?" RP 468-469. 

The Court of Appeals excused the misconduct by minimizing it, by 

holding that the overall evidence was so compelling that the misconduct 

made no difference and with summary conclusions for which no authority 

was cited. A-18-23. For example, the Court of Appeals approved the 

prosecutor's leading question on the essential issue for the jury: "You said 

earlier that he forced oral sex, how did he force oral sex?" because Mr. 

Hopkins had already testified that Mr. Markwell had forced him to 

perform oral sex, A-18, 19. This overlooks that an objection was 

sustained to the question and the prosecutor re-asked it, and that the 

prosecutor asked "how" because Mr. Hopkins had not testified that actual 

physical force or a threat ofbodily injury had been used. RP 388-389. 

For another example, the Court of Appeals found that following up 

on testimony that Mr. Markwell told stories of "violence," with a question 

"What do you mean?'' was not an attempt to deliberately violate the 

motion in limine prohibiting testimony about prior bad acts." A-20. 

The holdings of the Court of Appeals on these issues are contrary to other 
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decisions. Continuing to ask the same question after an objection is 

sustained is misconduct. State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 154, 822 

P.2d 1250 (1992). RP 286, 378-379. As set forth in 5 Karl B. Tegland. 

Washington Practice Manual, Evidence Law and Practice, 2012 update, at 

§ 103 .8, speaking objections may be used to intimidate or influence a 

witness's answer and "most trial judges believe speaking objections should 

be used sparingly, if at all." A leading question is one that suggests the 

desired answer. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (as 

clarified on denial of reconsideration (June 22, 1990)). ER 611(c) restricts 

the use of such leading questions in ordinary circumstance on direct. 

The Court of Appeals held that asking the jury whether defense 

counsel used the term "child rapist" to get them to say "who cares" or "it 

does not matter what happened to Charlie because he is a child molester," 

RP 583, and argument that counsel was "dominant appearing" and an 

"aggressive type" was not an attack on defense counsel. A-22. 

The Court of Appeals found no error in the argument that a juror 

did not have to be 100% certain of guilt. RP 23, 24. In so holding the 

Court overlooked that the last bullet point on the prosecutor's PowerPoint 

presentation slide stated, "If you believe in your gut that the defendant 

committed the crime, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt," a clear 

misstatement of the burden of proof. RP 587-588; CP 114-146 (Appendix 
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to Motion for Arrest of Judgment), 146. 

The decision is in conflict with authority that it is improper to vouch 

for the credibility of the complaining witness. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 

140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984) (improper for a prosecutor to vouch for the 

credibility of a prosecution witness); RPC 3.4(f). It is in conflict with 

authority that a prosecutor may not launch unfounded attacks on defense 

counsel and imply that the defense case is improper. United States v. 

Sanchez, 176 F.3d 1214, 1224-1225 (9th Cir. 1999). To do so violates the 

defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective 

assistance of counsel and due process rights to a fair trial. See Bruno v. 

Rushen, 721 F.2d 1193, 1195 (9th Cir. 1983). It is in conflict with authority 

that it is improper to ask the jury to infer guilt from the exercise of 

constitutional rights. State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 263-266, 576 P.2d 

1302, rev. denied 90 Wn.2d 1006 (1978); State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 

795, 683 P.2d 571 (1984) (right to bear arms); Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 

609, 614, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed.2d 106 (1965) (failure to testify); State v. 

Belgarde, supra. (right to remain silent); State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 

660, 585 P.2d 142 (1978) (marital privilege); State v. Nelson, 72 Wn.2d 269, 

285,432 P.2d 857 (1969) (privilege against self-incrimination). 

In is in conflict with cases holding that it is improper "to argue that 

reasonable doubt does not mean that jurors have to give the defendant the 
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benefit of the doubt." State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 24-25, 195 P.3d 940 

(2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2007 (2009) (citing State v. Bennett, 161 

Wn.2d 303, 315-316, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007); In re Winship, 397 U.S., 358, 

364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). 

5. THE SURPRISE TESTIMONY ABOUT A PRIOR ACT 
OF VIOLENCE 

The Court of Appeals excused the surprise testimony that Mr. 

Markwell had been involved in drugs and shot someone in the foot as "not 

so serious as to warrant a mistrial," and by distinguishing the case from 

State v. Escalon~ 49 Wn. App. 251, 254, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). A-27-28. 

In so ruling, the Court of Appeals failed to acknowledge that this testimony 

was elicited in violation of the court's clear and unambiguous in limine 

exclusion and because the prosecutor failed to warn Mr. Warren. RP 325-

326. As a result, the jurors heard that Mr. Markwell was involved in drugs 

and had allegedly shot someone in the past. RP 522-523. By holding the 

error harmless, the case is in conflict with State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 

921, 10 P.3d 390 (2000), and the test for prejudice set out there. 

And although the crime charge may have been more similar to the 

surprise testimony in Escalon~ its holding that the jury's hearing that a 

person accused of a violent crime had committed a prior act of violence is 

the kind of irregularity that has been deemed too prejudicial to be cured by 

19 



an instruction by the court should be applicable to Mr. Markwell's case. 

State v. Escalon~ 49 Wn. App. 251,255,74 P.2d 190 (1987). The decisions 

in State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273,284, 778 P.3d 1014 (1989); State v. 

Mack, 80 Wn.2d 19,490 P.2d 1303 (1971), and State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 

71,436 P.2d 198 (1968), also support the holding in Esalona: a curative 

instruction is insufficient when irregular evidence is inherently prejudicial 

and likely to impress itself on the minds of the jurors. Escalona, 49 Wn. 

App. at 255. Review should be granted on this issue. 

6. CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THIS CASE 

Contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeals at A-28, there were 

prejudicial errors in the case and the cumulative impact of such errors denied 

Mr. Markwell a fair trial. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Appellant submits that review should be granted, his convictions 

reversed and dismissed or reversed and remanded for retrial. 

DATED this 24th day ofFebruary, 2014. 

Respectfully submitted, 

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN HENRY BROWNE, P.S. 

~--
EMILY M. GAUSE 
WSBA#44446 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

KULIK, J.- John Markwell appeals his convictions for three counts of second 

degree rape. He does not dispute that there was sexual intercourse. But he challenges the 

sufficiency of the evidence to support the "forcible compulsion" element of the charges. 

He also contends the trial court erred in admitting expert testimony and denying his 

motion for a mistrial and that prosecutorial misconduct and cumulative error deprived 

him of a fair trial. Mr. Markwell's arguments are unpersuasive. Accordingly, we affirm 

his convictions. 

FACTS 

Between July 20,2011, and August 13,2011, John Henry Markwell and Charlie 

Dale Hopkins were both inmates at the Garfield County jail. Mr. Markwell would often 
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talk to inmates, including Mr. Hopkins, about prison life, his involvement in fights, and 

how he beat up people for snitching. Mr. Markwell is a physically imposing figure at 

6' 1" and 240 pounds. Mr. Hopkins, in contrast, is approximately 5'8" and 140 pounds. 

A number of inmates at the jail, including Mr. Hopkins, found Mr. Markwell 

intimidating. 

Upon learning that Mr. Hopkins had been sentenced for a sex crime, Mr. 

Markwell told him that sex offenders in prison can expect to have their property stolen, 

and be attacked and beaten. He offered to help Mr. Hopkins by writing him a "letter from 

home," which he explained would protect him from harm while in prison. Report of 

Proceedings (RP) at 391. The letter stated: 

"Charlie Hopkins is an awesome homosexual that has his mind right and he 
deserves a fair chance and has proven himself as he has done with me. 

His mother is also my woman, so this-so this woman here is a part 
of my family . 

. . . Handle with care. Handle fair . 

. . . Charlie deserves to be safe and spoiled." 

RP at 391. Mr. Hopkins believed he needed the letter for protection. 

In August 2011, Mr. Markwell approached Mr. Hopkins demanding oral sex. Mr. 

Hopkins repeatedly said "no," but Mr. Markwell continued to make sexual demands. Mr. 

Hopkins stated that he eventually went into Mr. Markwell's cell where Mr. Markwell 

"force[d] me to give him oral sex." RP at 385. He explained that Mr. Markwell, "kept 
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demanding, kept demanding, he took his hand and put in on the back of my head ... 

[a]nd held my head ... on him." RP at 388. When Mr. Hopkins tried to remove his 

mouth from Mr. Markwell's penis, Mr. Markwell held his head in place and prevented 

him from removing it. 

· On a second occasion, Mr. Markwell asked Mr. Hopkins to rub the back of his 

neck. Mr. Hopkins was afraid that he would lose the protection of Mr. Markwell and 

therefore complied. Mr. Markwell then proceeded to pull down Mr. Hopkins's pants, 

even though Mr. Hopkins tried to pull them back up. Once Mr. Hopkins's pants were 

down, Mr. Markwell penetrated Mr. Hopkins's anus. When Mr. Hopkins complained that 

it hurt, Mr. Markwell ordered Mr. Hopkins to perform oral sex. Mr. Hopkins complied 

with the order. 

The third act of sexual intercourse was oral sex. Mr. Markwell testified that he 

was afraid to refuse Mr. Markwell's order to give him oral sex because he feared Mr. 

Markwell might take back the protective letter and destroy it. 

The State charged Mr. Markwell by amended information with three counts of 

second degree rape. 

Before trial, Mr. Markwell moved to exclude the testimony of two experts, 

Stephen Lindsley, a licensed psychologist, and Robert Jackson, an investigator for the 
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Department of Corrections (DOC) on the basis that their testimony was irrelevant to the 

issue of forcible compulsion and unfairly prejudicial. 

The trial court allowed both witnesses to testifY, concluding that Mr. Jackson's 

testimony helped the jury understand prison terminology and culture and thereby assisted 

the jury in understanding Mr. Markwell's statements to Mr. Hopkins. As to Mr. 

Lindsley's testimony, the court concluded that Mr. Hopkins's psychological profile and 

vulnerability to manipulation was relevant to a jury's understanding of whether Mr. 

Hopkins's response to the alleged threats was reasonable. 

At trial, Mr. Jackson testified that he is employed at Walla Walla State Penitentiary 

and has 19 years' experience in corrections. He explained that based on this extensive 

experience, he is familiar with prison culture and slang. He stated that an inmate may be 

referred to as a "wife" or "bitch," which means the inmate is used for sexual gratification 

inside the prison. RP at 243-44. He explained that the terms also implied that one of the 

individuals is dominant and the other submissive. According to Mr. Jackson, an inmate 

can be "own[ ed]" by another and that there are consequences for someone who touches 

the "owned" person without permission. RP at 246. Mr. Jackson also testified that some 

inmates carry letters from inmates of a higher rank in the prison hierarchy that "vouch" 

for the lower ranking person. RP at 248. 
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In addition, Mr. Jackson told the jury that rapes and assaults occur within the 

prison and that inmates have the power to harm other inmates. Of particular significance 

to this case, he also testified that sex offenders are ranked at the bottom of the prison 

hierarchy and are more likely to be targeted for harassment and assaulted. 

Mr. Lindsley, a licensed mental health counselor and sex offender treatment 

provider with 35 years' experience, conducted a psychosexual evaluation of Mr. Hopkins 

in August 2011. He testified that Mr. Hopkins was functioning in the "borderline range 

of intelligence" with an IQ between 70 and 84, and that, at 21 years of age, he had the 

emotional development of an adolescent. RP at 272. Mr. Lindsley noted that Mr. 

Hopkins viewed the world as a dangerous place, was not able to challenge dominant 

individuals, and was therefore vulnerable to manipulation. He stated that when a person 

is fearful, they are more likely to form a close bond with someone who can alleviate that 

fear. 

Mr. Hopkins testified about the three sexual incidents described above. He also 

described the atmosphere of coercion and fear that Mr. Markwell created in the jail. He 

testified that prior to the three sexual incidents, Mr. Markwell had abused and threatened 

him, forcing him to clean his cell and yelling at him if he failed to comply. He stated that 

Mr. Markwell implied that he would get hurt if he did not clean. He described a specific 

5 



No. 31167-8-III 
State v. Markwell 

incident where he accidentally brushed Mr. Markwell's foot with a mop and Mr. 

Markwell responded by yelling to get the mop away or he would kick his head in. Mr. 

Hopkins also testified that Mr. Markwell claimed Mr. Hopkins was his property and told 

him he will do as he is told. 

Mr. Markwell also told Mr. Hopkins that because he was in for a sex crime, he 

would be targeted by other inmates and therefore needed Mr. Markwell's protection. Mr. 

Markwell told him he could earn the protection through the above-referenced protection 

letter by becoming his ''woman." RP at 393. Mr. Hopkins felt he could not decline 

because he "was afraid of the whole prison system" and that he would lose Mr. 

Markwell's protection. RP at 390. He explained that he was afraid of Mr. Markwell 

because he talked about beating people up for snitching. According to Mr. Hopkins, Mr. 

Markwell told him that if he ever snitched, his friends and family would not be safe. 

Mr. Markwell controlled and dominated other inmates. He forced Michael Burke, 

another inmate at the jail, to move out of his cell and then ordered Mr. Hopkins into that 

cell with Mr. Markwell. In addition to forcing Mr. Burke to move out of his jail cell, Mr. 

Markwell controlled Mr. Burke with threats of physical harm. Mr. Burke described an 

incident where Mr. Markwell ordered him to "throw towels" or he would '"break [his] 

neck.'" RP at 515-16. Mr. Hopkins witnessed these threats. When asked to describe Mr. 
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Hopkins's behavior in the presence of Mr. Markwell, Mr. Burke testified that "[Mr. 

Hopkins] just seemed scared ... [l]ike your dad yelling at you when you are a little kid." 

RP at 477. He also overheard Mr. Markwell telling Mr. Hopkins,"' I will kick your 

ass.'" RP at 4 77. 

Following a traffic infraction, Dustin Warren spent a weekend in the Garfield 

County jail with Mr. Markwell and Mr. Hopkins in August 2011. He testified that his 

first impression of Mr. Markwell was of a "big and intimidating guy." RP at 521. He 

observed that Mr. Hopkins "[k]ind of shied away from [Mr. Markwell]." RP at 521. Mr. 

Warren also noticed that during that weekend, Mr. Hopkins ''just kind of sat back and was 

quiet the whole time." RP at 521. 

A jury found Mr. Markwell guilty of all three counts of second degree rape. The 

court sentenced him under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act of the Sentencing 

Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A RCW, to life without the possibility of parole. He 

appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

Sufficient Evidence-Forcible Compulsion. Evidence is sufficient to support a 

conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it would permit any rational 

trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 
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Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 ( 1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits 

the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn 

therefrom." !d. We defer to the trier of fact, who resolves conflicting testimony, 

evaluates credibility of witnesses, and generally weighs the persuasiveness of the 

evidence. State v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410,415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992). 

A person is guilty of rape in the second degree when the person "engages in sexual 

intercourse with another person ... [b]y forcible compulsion." RCW 9A.44.050(1)(a). 

"'Forcible compulsion' means physical force which overcomes resistance, or a threat, 

express or implied, that places a person in fear of death or physical injury to herself or 

himself or another person." RCW 9A.44.010(6). Forcible compulsion does not require a 

showing that the victim offered physical resistance. State v. McKnight, 54 Wn. App. 521, 

525, 774 P.2d 532 (1989). It is the conceptual opposite of consent and "requires more 

than the force normally used to achieve sexual intercourse or sexual contact." State v. 

Ritola, 63 Wn. App. 252,254,817 P.2d 1390 (1991); see State v. Camara, 113 Wn.2d 

631, 636-37, 781 P.2d 483 (1989). 

As a preliminary matter, Mr. Markwell does not dispute that there was sexual 

intercourse during the three incidents at issue here. What is disputed is whether the State 

established the essential element of forcible compulsion. Mr. Markwell, relying primarily 
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on State v. Weisberg, 65 Wn. App. 721, 829 P .2d 252 ( 1992), first contends "there was no 

evidence of physical force sufficient to constitute forcible compulsion." Appellant's Br. 

at 20. He asserts that under the totality of the circumstances, putting a hand on the back 

of Mr. Hopkins's head or pulling down his pants does not constitute forcible compulsion, 

especially in view of the fact that an "audible request for help would have sufficed to end 

any sexual contact." Appellant's Reply Br. at 9. 

As to the second incident, Mr. Markwell points out that there was no evidence that 

force was used. He also states that he stopped anal intercourse as soon as Mr. Hopkins 

complained of pain. And Mr. Markwell contends that there was no evidence that he 

threatened, expressly or impliedly, to physically harm Mr. Hopkins to force him to engage 

in sexual intercourse. 

Weisberg is materially distinguishable. In that case, the only evidence of forcible 

compulsion was an exchange between the victim and the defendant in which the victim 

"expressed reservations about lying down on the bed" and the defendant told her 

"'go ahead and lay down on the bed anyway."' Weisberg, 65 Wn. App. at 725. 

Although the victim testified that she was frightened, there was no evidence that the 

defendant communicated a threat or intention to cause her bodily harm. !d. at 725-26. 
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Here, in contrast, Mr. Markwell used both physical force and implied threats of 

harm to force Mr. Hopkins into having sexual intercourse with him. In the first incident, 

Mr. Markwell persistently demanded that Mr. Hopkins perform oral sex, despite Mr. 

Hopkins repeatedly telling him that he did not wish to do so. Mr. Hopkins tried to 

remove his mouth from Mr. Markwell's penis, but Mr. Markwell held the back of Mr. 

Hopkins's head with such force that Mr. Hopkins was not able to pull away. And in the 

second incident, Mr. Markwell used physical force to remove Mr. Hopkins's pants, even 

after Mr. Hopkins tried to pull his pants back up. 

On these facts, a jury could reasonably conclude that Mr. Markwell's physical 

persistence, which Mr. Hopkins verbally and physically resisted, was an implied threat 

that placed him in fear of physical injury and that the physical force and implied threat 

were the only reasons that sexual intercourse occurred. 

In addition to the evidence of physical force, the State produced evidence 

of forcible compulsion through implied threats. To prove a "threat" under 

RCW 9A.44.010(6), the State must provide "some evidence from which the jury could 

infer that not only did [the victim] perceive a threat, but also that [the defendant] in some 

way communicated his intention to inflict physical injury in order to coerce compliance." 

Weisberg, 65 Wn. App. at 726. 

10 
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The record here establishes that Mr. Markwell, through his conduct at the jail, 

impliedly threatened Mr. Hopkins so that he feared physical injury if he did not comply 

with Mr. Markwell's demands. As detailed above, Mr. Markwell created an atmosphere 

of fear in the jail in which he told stories of past violent acts and regularly threatened Mr. 

Hopkins with harm. In addition to the testimony of other inmates, detailed above, Mr. 

Hopkins testified that Mr. Markwell (1) threatened to harm Mr. Hopkins's friends and 

family if he snitched on him, (2) threatened to kick him in the head, (3) forced him to 

clean the jail common area and would yell and throw things if Mr. Hopkins failed to 

comply, (4) forced Mr. Hopkins to move into Mr. Markwell's cell and moved his personal 

items, (5) claimed Mr. Hopkins was his property, and (6) told him "what ... he said was 

the law" and "I am his and I will do what he says." RP at 412. Finally, after writing the 

protective letter, he told Mr. Hopkins that he needed to "mak[e] [the letter] true." RP at 

393. A juror could reasonably interpret this as an implied threat to withdraw the letter 

and subject Mr. Hopkins to harm if he did not give into Mr. Markwell's sexual demands. 

Moreover, the difference in body size between Mr. Hopkins and Mr. Markwell is relevant 

in assessing whether there was forcible compulsion. See McKnight, 54 Wn. App. at 525-

26. 

Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, we conclude that there is sufficient 
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evidence of forcible compulsion to support Mr. Markwell's convictions for second degree 

rape. 

Expert Testimony. Next, Mr. Markwell contends that the court erred in allowing 

the State to introduce the expert testimony of Mr. Jackson and Mr. Lindsley. He contends 

that Mr. Jackson's testimony was not helpful to the jury under ER 702, and that its 

probative value was outweighed by its prejudice. He asserts the testimony equated Mr. 

Markwell, who had previously been in prison, with prison security threats and inmates 

who commit crimes within the prison system. In addition, he contends that Mr. 

Lindsley's testimony should have been excluded because it improperly vouched for Mr. 

Hopkins's credibility and constituted an opinion as to Mr. Markwell's guilt. 

The admission of expert testimony is governed by ER 702 and requires a case-by-

case analysis. State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 262, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004). ER 702 allows 

an expert to testify if "specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the 

evidence or to determine a fact in issue." 

We review a trial court's determination of the admissibility of expert testimony for 

an abuse of discretion. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 

683, 15 P.3d 115 (2000). If the basis for admission is "fairly debatable," we will not 

disturb the trial court's ruling. Grp. Health Coop. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Dep 't of 
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Revenue, 106 Wn.2d 391, 398,722 P.2d 787 (1986) (quoting Walker v. Bangs, 92 Wn.2d 

854, 858,601 P.2d 1279 (1979)). Washington appellate courts generally do not weigh 

expert testimony. In reMarriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn. App. 484,491, 849 P.2d 1243 

(1993). 

JACKSON TESTIMONY 

As noted above, the trial court concluded that Mr. Jackson's testimony was 

relevant to help the jury understand Mr. Markwell's statements to Mr. Hopkins in the 

context of prison life. This was a tenable basis. One of the central issues in the case was 

whether the sexual acts occurred as a result of express or implied threats. Mr. Jackson's 

testimony assisted the jury in understanding prison terminology and the significance of 

Mr. Markwell's comments to Mr. Hopkins within the context of the prison system. As 

such, it helped the jury understand the State's theory of the case. 

Mr. Markwell also contends that Mr. Jackson's testimony amounted to improper 

profile evidence because it "tended to equate Mr. Markwell, who had been in prison in 

the past, with security threats and those prisoners guilty of assaults, introduction of drugs 

and even murder-matters which Mr. Jackson testified were the matters in which he had 

expertise and experience." Appellant's Br. at 25. He reasons that this evidence "was 

used to imply that Mr. Markwell committed the charged crime because he shared the 
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characteristics of known offenders." Appellant's Br. at 25-26. 

Generally, profile evidence that identifies a person as a member of a group more 

likely to commit the charged crime is inadmissible because it lacks probative value and is 

inherently prejudicial. State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 365, 864 P.2d 426 

(1994) (quoting United States v. Gillespie, 852 F.2d 475,480 (9th Cir. 1988)); State v. 

Braham, 67 Wn. App. 930,936, 841 P.2d 785 (1992). Here, when asked to describe his 

professional background, Mr. Jackson testified that he had worked for the DOC for 19 

years and that during that time, he had been employed as a correctional mental health 

counselor, corrections specialist and, most recently, as the chief investigator of the 

intelligence and investigations unit at Walla Walla State Penitentiary. He explained that 

his current position involves the investigation of criminal activity within the prison, which 

could include anything "from assaults, drug introductions, attempted murders, and so on." 

RP at 233. 

Mr. Jackson's recitation ofhis professional credentials does not constitute profile 

evidence. There was no testimony that Mr. Jackson had even investigated Mr. Markwell. 

His work history was simply introduced to explain why he was knowledgeable about 

prison culture, not to create an inference that Mr. Markwell had a propensity to commit 

crimes. The trial court properly admitted Mr. Jackson's testimony. 
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LINDSLEY TESTIMONY 

Mr. Markwell next contends that Mr. Lindsley's testimony should have been 

excluded as improper vouching and an impermissible opinion as to guilt. He argues, 

"[t]he sole purpose of [Mr. Lindsley's] testimony was to give the jurors Mr. Lindsley's 

expert opinion that Mr. Hopkins was vulnerable, credible and a victim; and, by inference, 

that Mr. Markwell was guilty of victimizing him." Appellant's Br. at 26. 

The trial court admitted Mr. Lindsley's testimony as relevant to the issue of 

whether the sexual acts occurred as a result of an express or implied threat, reasoning, 

"the issue of[Mr. Hopkins's] vulnerability to exploitation ... is relevant to the jury 

understanding and determination of whether or not his subjective response to the alleged, 

implied or expressed threats from the defendant were objectively reasonable." RP at 48. 

It is generally improper for a witness to opine that the defendant is guilty; to do so 

invades the province of the jury. State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 

(2001) (quoting City of Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)). 

To determine whether a witness's statement is improper opinion testimony on the 

defendant's guilt, we consider the specific circumstances of the case, including the type 

of witnesses involved, the nature of the testimony, the nature of the charges, the type of 

defense, and other evidence before the trier of fact. Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759 (quoting 
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Heatley, 70 Wn. App. at 579). However, opinion testimony is not improper if it "is not a 

direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise 

helpful to the [fact finder], and is based on inferences from the evidence." Heatley, 70 

Wn. App. at 578. 

Under the circumstances of this case, Mr. Lindsley's testimony was not an opinion 

about Mr. Markwell's guilt. Mr. Lindsley was called by the State to explain how Mr. 

Hopkins might perceive threats and why he might be vulnerable to exploitation. His 

testimony regarding Mr. Hopkins's low intellectual functioning, arrested emotional 

development, and vulnerability to manipulation helped the jurors understand Mr. 

Hopkins's testimony and his reactions to Mr. Markwell. Mr. Lindsley did not express any 

opinion as to Mr. Markwell's guilt or credibility. He merely conveyed his opinion that 

Mr. Hopkins was vulnerable to exploitation. 

Finally, Mr. Markwell contends that Mr. Lindsley's opinion lacks an adequate 

scientific foundation. However, defense counsel did not object to the expert 

qualifications or to the foundation of his testimony. Because this issue is being raised for 

the first time on appeal and is not of constitutional magnitude, we do not address it. State 

v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 719, 718 P.2d 407 (1986) (quoting State v. Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 

131, 138, 667 P.2d 68 (1983)). 
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Prosecutorial Misconduct. Next, Mr. Markwell raises a series of prosecutorial 

misconduct claims on appeal, including that the prosecutor ( 1) asked leading questions 

despite the trial court's admonition, (2) elicited inadmissible evidence from a witness, 

(3) improperly vouched for Mr. Hopkins's credibility, (4) impugned defense counsel, 

(5) misstated the law of reasonable doubt, and (6) improperly used the American flag in a 

power point presentation. 

To prevail on his prosecutorial misconduct claims, Mr. Markwell must show both 

improper conduct and resulting prejudice. State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 

P.3d 221 (2006) (quoting State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561,940 P.2d 546 (1997)). A 

prosecutor's comments are prejudicial when they are substantially likely to affect the 

jury's verdict. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d at 52 (quoting Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 561). When 

determining the prejudicial effect of the conduct, we look to the context of the entire 

argument, the issues of the case, the evidence, and the jury instructions. Brown, 13 2 

Wn.2d at 561. 

We do not reverse when the trial court could have corrected a prosecutor's 

improper remark by a curative instruction that defense counsel failed to make. State v. 

Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). If defense counsel fails to object to 

improper remarks by the prosecutor, the error is waived on appeal "unless the remark is 
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deemed to be so flagrant and ill intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting 

prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." !d. 

Mr. Markwell first contends that the prosecutor's use of leading questions tainted 

the trial, improperly prompting Mr. Hopkins to testify that force was used against him. A 

leading question is one that suggests the answer desired. State v. Scott, 20 Wn.2d 696, 

698, 149 P.2d 152 (1944). ER 611(c) provides that leading questions "should not be used 

on the direct examination of a witness except as may be necessary to develop the witness' 

testimony." While the asking of leading questions is not usually reversible error, "the 

persistent pursuit of such a course of action is a factor to be added in the balance." State 

v. Torres, 16 Wn. App. 254,258, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976). 

Although Mr. Markwell suggests that the trial was permeated with leading 

questions, he identifies a single instance where a leading question was used. During trial, 

the prosecutor asked Mr. Hopkins: "You said earlier that he forced oral sex; how did he 

force oral sex?" RP at 387. The court sustained defense counsel's objection and asked 

the prosecutor to restate the question. Even if we deem this a leading question, there is no 

suggestion that it had an appreciable effect on the verdict. Additionally, just prior to the 

prosecutor's question, Mr. Hopkins had testified, without prompting, that Mr. Markwell 

had forced him to perform oral sex. In view of this testimony and the evidence of Mr. 

18 



No. 31167-8-III 
State v. lkfark1vel/ 

Markwell's guilt, it is not likely the verdict hinged on any information presented by the 

prosecutor. 

As to the prosecutor's use of"speaking objections," Mr. Markwell points to two 

examples in the record where these occurred. In the first, defense counsel objected to the 

State's objection to defense counsel's cross-examination of Mr. Lindsley as prejudicial to 

the victim. However, defense counsel did not go forward with argument on the issue and 

ended its questioning of the witness. In the next instance, defense counsel objected to the 

State's following objection, "I am still objecting to all of this. I think if nothing else, 

under the rape shield law. I mean it does not matter whether or not the victim has had 

previous .... " RP at 286. Even if we deem these objections improper, Mr. Markwell 

fails to articulate how they prejudiced him. While the prosecutor objected that defense 

questioning was improper under the rape shield statute, nothing prejudicial was 

introduced through argument or opinion prior to the court excusing the jury. 

Next, Mr. Markwell contends the prosecutor committed reversible misconduct 

when, in violation of a pretrial ruling, he elicited testimony from Mr. Warren about Mr. 

Markwell shooting someone in the foot: 

[Prosecutor]: Defendant told a number of stories, correct? 
[Mr. Warren]: Yes. 
[Prosecutor]: And what was included in those stories? 
[Mr. Warren]: Violence. 
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[Prosecutor]: What do you mean? 
[Mr. Warren]: Talking about one story where he shot a guy in the foot. 

RP at 523. 

During trial, the court prohibited witnesses from testifying about Mr. Markwell's 

prior bad acts. Even assuming Mr. Warren's testimony violated this ruling, that fact does 

not establish that the prosecutor committed misconduct. Mr. Markwell does not 

demonstrate, nor does the record suggest, that the prosecutor's question was ill-

intentioned or designed to elicit a response violating the court's ruling. The trial court 

sustained defense counsel's objection and immediately instructed the jury to disregard the 

remark. We presume a jury follows the court's instructions. State v. Studebaker, 67 

Wn.2d 980, 983-84,410 P.2d 913 (1966). And given the strength ofthe State's case, 

there is no reasonable probability that Mr. Warren's reference to his conversation with 

Mr. Markwell about an alleged shooting affected the outcome of the trial. 

The next incident cited by Mr. Markwell occurred during closing argument, when 

the prosecuting attorney, referencing Mr. Lindsley's testimony, argued "male victims 

typically don't disclose rape right away, and because it is threatening to a man to have to 

admit that he has been sexually abused." RP at 585. Mr. Markwell contends this 

comment constituted improper vouching for Mr. Hopkins's credibility. 
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Beyond this bare argument, Mr. Markwell fails to explain how the prosecutor's 

argument constituted improper vouching. Improper vouching occurs when the prosecutor 

expresses a personal belief in the veracity of a witness or indicates that evidence not 

presented at trial supports the testimony of a witness. State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, I 96, 

241 PJd 389 (2010). Here, the prosecutor never personally vouched for the credibility of 

Mr. Hopkins, but merely highlighted Mr. Lindsley's testimony in asking the jury to 

evaluate Mr. Hopkins's testimony. In doing so, he explained the jury instruction on 

expert witnesses, reviewed part of Mr. Lindsley's testimony, and asked the jury to 

consider Mr. Hopkins's testimony in conjunction with Mr. Lindsley's. Prosecutors have 

wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the facts concerning witness credibility. 

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727,940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Additionally, the jury was 

instructed it was not required to accept the opinion of the expert witness, and the jury is 

presumed to follow the instruction. 

Mr. Markwell also maintains that in closing argument the prosecuting attorney 

improperly impugned defense counsel by referring to him as a "dominant" and 

"aggressive" attorney. He argues, "[a] prosecutor may not launch unfounded attacks 

impugning the character of defense counsel and imply the defense case is improper." 

Appellant's Br. at 32. He claims that linking defense counsel to Mr. Markwell implied 
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that defense counsel was also victimizing Mr. Hopkins and thereby compromised Mr. 

Markwell's right to counsel. 

During closing, the prosecutor stated: "When [Mr. Hopkins] was questioned by a 

dominant appearing, maybe aggressive type defense attorney, didn't it seem like every 

answer was yes." RP at 585. Evaluating this comment in the context of the closing 

argument, Mr. Markwell fails to establish that it was an attack on defense counsel. Here, 

the challenged statement was made in the context of discussing the jury instruction related 

to witness credibility. The prosecutor directed the jury to recall the "manner" of Mr. 

Hopkins while he testified and recalled Mr. Lindsley's testimony regarding Mr. 

Hopkins's difficulty standing up to dominant individuals. RP at 582. The prosecutor was 

simply asking the jury to weigh Mr. Lindsley's testimony in conjunction with its 

observations of Mr. Hopkins's manner of testifying in response to questioning by defense 

counsel. This was not misconduct. 

Relying on State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), Mr. Markwell 

next contends the prosecutor misstated the law on reasonable doubt. While discussing the 

"reasonable doubt" instruction, the prosecutor explained: 
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It means if you have a real doubt as to whether or not these things occurred, 
then the defendant is not guilty-but it does not mean that you have to be 
persuaded beyond all doubt. It does not mean 100 percent certainty; as the 
jury instruction says, very few things are none [sic] with 100 percent 
certainty. 

RP at 587. The court sustained defense counsel's objection and instructed the jury to 

disregard the statement. 

However, Warren is distinguishable. In that case, our Supreme Court held that the 

State undermined the presumption of innocence by stating, "'Reasonable doubt does not 

mean give the defendant the benefit of the doubt.'" Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 24. In 

contrast to Warren, the prosecutor here did not state that Mr. Markwell was not entitled to 

the benefit of any doubt, he stated that the jury did not have to be 100 percent certain the 

defendant was guilty. However, even if we conclude that the prosecution committed 

misconduct by misstating the burden of proof, the misstatement was cured by a proper 

instruction. In Warren, the court held that the instructions cured any misstatements of the 

law. Here, the court directed the jury to disregard the prosecutor's comment and gave a 

correct reasonable doubt instruction. This eliminated any confusion and potential 

prejudice stemming from any improper statement. 

Finally, Mr. Markwell contends that the prosecutor's use of the flag in his power 

point presentation improperly invited an emotional verdict by conveying to the jurors 
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"that voting for the prosecution was their patriotic duty." Appellant's Br. at 34. Mr. 

Markwell's argument fails. Nothing in the record indicates that the prosecutor made any 

remarks about the flag or what it should mean to the jury. Mr. Markwell points to no 

evidence that the prosecutor inflamed the jurors' passions or prejudices by referencing the 

flag. There was no misconduct. 

Motion for Mistrial. A mistrial should only be granted based on a witness's 

inadmissible testimony if the defendant is so prejudiced by the testimony that nothing 

short of a new trial would ensure that he receive a fair trial. State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. 

App. 251,254, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). We will overturn a denial of a motion for a mistrial 

if there is a substantial likelihood that the inadmissible evidence affected the jury's 

verdict. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Thus, we must 

determine whether Mr. Warren's testimony in violation of the motion in limine was so 

prejudicial that Mr. Markwell was denied his right to a fair trial. In making this 

determination, we consider: ( 1) the seriousness of the trial irregularity, (2) whether it was 

cumulative of other properly admitted evidence, and (3) whether the trial court properly 

instructed the jury to disregard it. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 254. As previously noted, 

jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's limiting instruction. State v. Johnson, 124 

Wn.2d 57, 77, 873 P.2d 514 (1994). 
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The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial 

court and is reversible only for an abuse of that discretion. State v. Allen, 159 Wn.2d 1, 

10, 147 P.3d 581 (2006). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly 

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. /d. (quoting Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 701 ). 

When making this determination, appellate courts do not weigh conflicting evidence or 

make credibility determinations. State v. Rodriguez, 103 Wn. App. 693,696,699-700, 14 

P.3d 157 (2000), aff'd, 146 Wn.2d 260,45 P.3d 541 (2002). Our inquiry is limited to 

whether the trial court had tenable reasons for concluding that Mr. Markwell was not 

prejudiced by the improper testimony. /d. at 700. 

Before trial, Mr. Markwell moved to exclude Mr. Warren's testimony regarding 

conversations with Mr. Markwell as inadmissible hearsay and character evidence. 

Defense counsel specifically asked for the suppression of comments that Mr. Markwell 

made about drug use to Mr. Warren. The State countered that Mr. Warren directly 

observed Mr. Markwell and Mr. Hopkins interact and that his testimony was relevant to 

establishing the underlying element of an implied threat. The prosecutor explained that 

the purpose of introducing Mr. Warren's testimony was not to show that Mr. Markwell 

used drugs, but to show a common scheme of grooming inmates for sex. He also pointed 

out that Mr. Markwell's stories of his violent behavior provided background for the 
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existence of the implied threat. The court denied the motion to exclude, finding Mr. 

Warren's testimony relevant to the issue of consent: 

The issue of whether or not there was any coercion, whether or not 
there was any intimidation, all of this is fair game, is highly relevant, and 
these comments that the defendant is alleged to have made to show his 
bravado or macho or whatever, to somebody, allegedly, of less than average 
intelligence ... the door is open for that to come in. 

RP at 317. 

Later, when the prosecutor asked Mr. Warren to describe the substance of his 

conversations with Mr. Markwell, Mr. Warren testified that Mr. Markwell told stories of 

drug use and"[ v]iolence," including one story where he stated that he "shot a guy in the 

foot." RP at 523. 

Mr. Markwell objected and moved for a mistrial, contending that the prosecutor 

asked the question in bad faith and that an instruction could not cure the error. The 

prosecutor responded that his understanding of the pretrial rulings was that he would be 

allowed to question witnesses about Mr. Markwell's stories of violence. He also stated 

that he had not anticipated that Mr. Warren would testify about Mr. Markwell's stories of 

drug use or shooting someone in the foot. The court denied the motion for a mistrial, but 

instructed the jury to disregard Mr. Warren's last two statements. 
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Mr. Markwell claims that Escalona supports his argument that Mr. Warren's 

surprise testimony is grounds for a mistrial. In that case, a prosecution for second degree 

assault with a knife, the trial court granted a defense motion to exclude evidence of the 

defendant's prior conviction for the same crime. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 252. During 

cross-examination, the victim disclosed that he knew the defendant "'already has a record 

and had stabbed someone."' Jd at 253. The trial court struck the improper testimony 

and instructed the jury not to consider it, but denied the defense's motion for a mistrial. 

On appeal, Division One of this court concluded that improper testimony that the 

defendant had previously committed the same crime as the one charged was highly 

prejudicial and that a curative instruction could not negate the prejudicial effect. Jd at 

256. 

Escalona is distinguishable. The improper statement at issue in that case indicated 

that the defendant had committed a virtually identical crime to the one for which he was 

on trial. Thus, the statement was highly prejudicial because it was highly likely that 

jurors would conclude that the defendant had a propensity for committing that type of 

crime. In this case,· in contrast, the improper testimony indicated that Mr. Markwell made 

statements in jail about drug use and allegedly shooting someone in the foot. Even iftrue, 

these statements do not indicate a propensity to commit rape. Moreover, the unexpected 
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testimony was in line with the State's general theory of the case that Mr. Markwell was 

creating an atmosphere of fear and intimidation within the jail. As such, it was 

cumulative of Mr. Hopkins's and Mr. Burke's testimony about Mr. Markwell's stories of 

violence. Finally, the jury was instructed to disregard inadmissible testimony. Thus, 

although the remarks had the potential for prejudice, they were not so serious as to 

warrant a mistrial. 

The trial court did not err in denying Mr. Markwell's motion for a mistrial. 

Cumulative Error. Mr. Markwell's contention that he was denied a fair trial due to 

cumulative error fails. Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant may be entitled 

to a new trial when errors cumulatively produced a trial that was fundamentally unfair. In 

re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296,332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994). The defendant 

bears the burden of proving an accumulation of error of sufficient magnitude that retrial is 

necessary. !d. Where no prejudicial error is shown to have occurred, cumulative error 

cannot be said to have deprived the defendant of a fair trial. State v. Stevens, 58 Wn. 

App. 4 78, 498, 794 P .2d 38 ( 1990). Without evidence of error here, the cumulative error 

doctrine does not apply. 
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We affmn the convictions for three counts of second degree rape. 

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to 

RCW 2.06.040. 

Kulik, J. 

WE CONCUR: 

Siddo~' 0'· 
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